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66.  The foreclosures caused by Defendants’ discriminatory reverse redlining
practices have caused, and continue to cause, multiple types of injuries to Baltimore,
including:

a. A significant decline in the value of nearby homes, resulting in a
decrease in property tax revenue;

b. An increase in the number of abandoned and vacant homes;

c. An increase in criminal and gang activity as abandoned and vacant
homes become centers for squatting, drug use, drug distribution, prostitution, and

other unlawful activities;

d. Increased expenditures for police and fire protection;
e Increased expenditures to secure abandoned and vacant homes;
f. Additional expenditures to acquire and rehabilitate vacant

properties; and
g. Additional expenditures for administrative, legal, and social
services.

67. Damages suffered by the City of Baltimore as a result of Wells Fargo’s
foreclosures are fully capable of empirical quantification. Recent studies demonstrate
that the precise financial impacts of the different types of injuries caused by foreciosures
are quantifiable. A study published by the Fannie Mae Foundation, using Chicago as an
example, determined that each foreclosure is responsible for an average decline of
approximately 1% in the value of each single-family home within a quarter of a mile.
See D. Immergluck & G. Smith, The External Costs of Foreclosure: The Impact of
Single-Family Mortgage Foreclosures on Property Values, 17 Housing Policy Debate 57

(2006).
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68.  Other studies have focused on the impact of abandoned homes on
surrounding property values. A recent study in Philadelphia, for example, found that
each home within 150 feet of an abandoned home declined in value by an average of |
$7,627; homes within 150 to 299 feet declined in value by $6,810; and homes within 300
to 449 feet declined in value by $3,542. Anne B. Shlay & Gordon Whitman, Research
for Democracy: Linking Community Organizing and Research to Leverage Blight Policy,
at 20 (2004).

69.  The costs of increased municipal services that are necessary because of
foreclosures have also been analyzed empirically. A study commissioned by the
Homeownership Preservation Foundation isolated twenty-six types of costs incurred by
fifteen government agencies in response to forecloéures in Chicago. See W. Apgar, M.
Duda & R. Gorey, The Municipal Costs of Foreclosures: A Chicago. Case Study (Feb. 27,
2005) at 24-26 (available at hitp://www.nw.org/network/neighborworksProgs/
foreclosuresolutions/documents/2005 Apgar-DudaStudy-FullVersion.pdf). It then
analyzed the amount of each cost based on different foreclosure scenarios, such as
whether the home is left vacant, whether and to what degree criminal activity ensues, and
whether the home must be demolished. The study found that the total costs ran as high as
$34,199 per foreclosure.

70.  The damages and costs to Baltimore of the foreclosures caused by
Defendants’ discriminatory lending practices, including but not limited to those described
above, are in the tens of millions of dollars.

71. Defendants’ actions set forth herein constitute a pattern or practice of
discriminatory lending and a continuing violation of federal law. Unless enjoined, Wells

Fargo will continue to engage in the unlawful pattern or practice described above.
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72. Baltimore has been, and continues to be, adversely affected by the acts,
policies, and practices of Defendants, their employees, and/or their agents.

73. The extent of Baltimore’s injuries will increase unless and until Wells
Fargo ceases to discriminate against African Americans and borrowers in majority
African-American neighborhoods.

74, Defendants’ unlawful actions described above were, and are, intentional
and willful, and/or have been, and are, implemented with callous and reckless disregard
for Baltimore’s federally protected rights.

CAUSE OF ACTION
(Federal Fair Housing Act)

75.  Plaintiff repeats and incorporates by reference all allegations contained in
Paragraphs 1 through 74 as if fully set forth herein.
76. Defendants’ acts, policies, and practices constitute reverse redlining and
violate the Fair Housing Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. §§ 3604 and 3605:
(a) Defendants’ acts, policies, and practices have made and continue
to make housing unavailable on the basis of race and/or color, in violation of 42
U.S.C. § 3604(a);

(b) Defendants’ acts, policies, and practices have provided and
continue to provide different terms, conditions, and privileges of sale of housing,
as well as different services and facilities in connection therewith, on the basis of
race, and/or color, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3604(b),

(c) Defendants’ published policies and statements have expressed and
continue to express a preference on the basis of race and/or color, in violation of

42 U.S.C. § 3604(c); and
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(d)  Defendants’ acts, policies, and practices have provided and
continue to provide different terms, conditions and privileges on the basis of race
and/or color in connection with the making of residential real estate-related
transactions, in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 3605.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

77. Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 38(b), Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all

issues triable as of right.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays that the Court grant it the following
relief:

(1) enter a declaratory judgment that the foregoing acts, policies, and practices
of Defendants violate 42 U.S.C. §§ 3604 and 3605;

(2) enter a permanent injunction enjoining Defendants and their directors,
officers, agents and employees from continuing to publish, implement, and enforce the
illegal, discriminatory conduct described herein and directing Defendants and their
directors, officers, aéents and employees to take all affirmative steps necessary to remedy
the effects of the illegal, discriminatory conduct described herein and to prevent
additional instances of such conduct or similar conduct from occurring in the future;

(3) award compensatory damages to Plaintiff in an amount to be determined
by the jury that would fully compensate Plaintiff for its injuries caused by the conduct of
Defendants alleged herein;

4) award punitive damages to Plaintiff in an amount to be determined by the

jury that would punish Defendants for the willful, wanton and reckless conduct alleged

herein and that would effectively deter similar conduct in the future;
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(5)  award Plaintiff its reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs pursuant to 42
U.S.C. § 3613(c)(2); and

6) order such other relief as this Court deems just and equitable.

January 8, 2008 % / @_‘

P Relman,

MD Fed. Bar No. 11482
‘ Bradley H. Blower
| MD Fed. Bar No. 07641
Glenn Schlactus

Pending Admission Pro Hac Vice
RELMAN & DANE, PLLC
1225 19" Street NW, Suite 600
Washington, DC 20036
(202) 728-1888
(202) 728-0848 (fax)
jrelman@relmanlaw.com
bblower@relmanlaw.com
gschlactus@relmanlaw.com

Special Assistant City Solicitors and
Attorneys for Plaintiff

George Nilson, City Solicitor, MD Fed. Bar No. 01123
Suzanne Sangree, Chief Solicitor, MD Fed. Bar No. 26130
City Hall

100 N, Holliday Street

Baltimore, Maryland 21202

(410) 396-3297

(410) 659-4077 (fax)

George.Nilson@baltimorecity.gov
Suzanne.Sangree@baltimorecity.gov

Attorneys for Plaintiff
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